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QUESTION ANSWER 
Can you give an idea of the volume of 
complaints annually? 

The College has received approximately 100 in each of 
the past few years; however, most are handled 
internally.  We would estimate the need for assistance 
on approximately 12-24. 

Where do most of the complaints derive; 
students/faculty/employees? 

The significant majority come from faculty and staff, 
almost evenly split. 

What are the meeting requirements or 
expectations regarding post investigation? 

Determined on a case-by-case basis. 

Are advertisement services needed, i.e. 
– where trends are needed? 

No. 

On page 8 of the solicitation, the second to 
last bullet indicates the final investigative 
report is to include “findings.”  (I also note 
“analysis” was stricken. Is that accurate?) In 
section A, it states: “If the College has 
determined that a violation has occurred...” 
Can you explain please 

Correct; we do not require an analysis of the factual 
findings by the vendor. 

Do you anticipate extending the bid due date? No. 
What additional details are you willing to 
provide, if any, beyond what is stated in bid 
documents concerning how you will identify 
the winning bid? 

The contract award language listed in section three is 
standard practice. Award will be made to the bidder 
with the highest combined price and technical score. 

Was this bid posted to the nationwide free bid 
notification website at 
www.mygovwatch.com? 

No 

Other than your own website, where was this 
bid posted? 

The actual bid is available on the College’s procurement 
website. 

How many EEO cases/investigations were 
completed at MCC in 2019 and 2018? 

Approximately 50. 

How many cases/investigations in 2019 and 
2018 required the use of a translator? 

Approximately 3. 

What was the cost for the EEO investigations 
to MCC (either per EEO investigation or total 
amount) on 2018 and 2019? 

N/A; conducted in-house. 

What was the hourly rate? N/A; conducted in-house. 
Is this requirement new or is there an 
incumbent in place currently? 

N/A; conducted in-house. 

If there is an incumbent, what is the name of 
the firm? How long have they held the 
contract? 

N/A; conducted in-house. 

Does MC require offerors to submit proposed 
resumes of our EEO specialists with the 

Resumes are not required, but would be helpful. Given 
that they are not required, a minimum number cannot 
be determined. 



OFFICE OF PROCUREMENT 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL TITLE: EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO) INVESTIGATION SERVICES  

RFP NUMBER:  920-012 
RFP CLOSING DATE AND TIME: JANUARY 22, 2020 @ 3:00 PM  

 
response? What is the minimum number of 
resumes expected for us to include? 
What is the approximate # of cases MC is 
expecting to be handled under this contract 
per year? 
• # Formal/Investigations: 
• # Informal/Mediation: 
• # of cases expected across the 6 
entities listed on page 22 

Approximately 12-15 formal investigations, with possibly 
6-12 mediations. 

What is the page limit of the Technical 
Proposal? 

There is no page limit; however, proposing should limit 
enough pages that adequately to qualifications, 
experience, value added services, etc.  

The scope of services requires “Translation 
Services”. What languages are required? 

Spanish at a minimum.  Amharic and French would be a 
plus. 

Is the translator expected to also provide the 
EEO services or is this a separate individual(s) 
needed to be present when an EEO services 
are being conducted? 

May be separate individuals. 

Are you expecting our EEO contractors to have 
experience in both Informal and Formal 
services? Typically, the person who handles 
the Investigations, does not handle the 
informal side. 

To be determined on a case-by-case basis. 

The minimum qualifications list “experience 
developing and presenting training or 
facilitated workshops”. What topics will be 
covered under training and workshops that 
our team is expected to develop/present? 
Training is a separate service and should be 
priced separately. Is this part of “Optional 
Items”? 

Training topics will be determined, and associated 
training hourly rates should be reflected in “Optional 
Item” section of Price Proposal. 

What are the # of trainings/workshops 
expected to be handled under this contract? 

To be determined. 

On page 17, Award Considerations states that 
the award will be made to the lowest bidder 
whereas page 5 section 1.15 and page 10 
section 3.1.2 does not state lowest price but 
rather a qualifications, price and references as 
a comprehensive package. Is this a “lowest 
price” award? 

The resultant contract award will be made to the highest 
ranked bidder. Refer to second sentence of first 
paragraph in section 1.1 (Intent) located on page 2, for 
clarification. 

Although the RFP states that Investigations 
will be on-site, is there any percentage of the 
services that may be done remotely?   

Generally, the preference is to have most of the services 
provided in-person.  Remote services may be used in 
limited circumstances, on a case-by-case basis.   

Can you provide a copy of Montgomery 
College EEO policy #31006? 

Yes, see attached. 

If data and/or reports for this same period are 
available, I would also like to know the 

For the past 3 years, we have had 20-30 EEO investigations per 
year.  We will potentially outsource around half of those.  The 
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breakdown for each investigation (individual 
vs. consolidated) for the same period with the 
number of each type (i.e. Individual or 
Consolidated - single issue investigation, 
combined issues or continuing violation). 

vast majority of the EEO complaints we receive are brought 
forth by individuals; we only get 2-3/year that are brought by 
more than one person.  We don’t track by single 
issue/combined issue/continuing violation per se.  At least half 
of our cases include multiple issues (not counting retaliation; 
almost all of them have a retaliation component). 

What is the expected time to completion for a 
typical investigation based on past experience 
with EEO investigations? 

60 days or less 

On average, what has historically been the 
number of investigations conducted over the 
past 3 years?  Is this number expected to be 
consistent for the next few years? 

Has been between 20-30 and is expected to be steady; not 
every investigation would be outsourced (approximately half 
would be). 

What is the breakdown of type of EEO 
complaint received in the past three years 
(i.e., race, gender, disability, etc.)? 

Race is an element in over half the complaints, next is gender, 
then national origin, then disability, then religion, and finally, 
age. 

On average, how many interviews have been 
conducted for each investigation over the past 
three years? 

It varies widely; we would need outside help for the bigger 
investigations that would generally involve more than 5 
interviews. 

Do you have a template or preferred format in 
which you’d like to see the quarterly and bi-
weekly reports? 

No.  

Can briefings be provided telephonically or are 
they required in person? 

Telephone briefings are ok, depending on the circumstances. 

Will Montgomery College provide a liaison to 
assist in the collection of evidence such as 
personnel files, internal policies, collection of 
emails from servers, etc.? 

Yes 

Will the College accept a tiered pricing 
proposal based on the complexity of the 
investigation? 

So that all submitted pricing is compared on a apple-to-apple 
basis, tiered pricing is NOT acceptable 

Is the College willing to have translation 
services outsourced through a third-party as a 
pass-through cost? 

Yes; however, all contract, and billing documentation will be 
that of the prime contractor only. No purchase orders, or 
payments will be issued to third party entities.  

 
 
 

 
**********************END OF QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS***********************  
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I. Policy Statement 
 

Montgomery College is committed to providing equal employment opportunity for all 
employees and applicants. Equal opportunity extends to all aspects of the employment 
relationship, including but not limited to recruiting, hiring, placement, promotions, training, 
working conditions, transfer, leaves of absences, compensation, and benefits. Further, 
the College is committed to providing an environment in which all persons are provided 
the opportunity for employment, participation in academic programs, and/or other College 
activities free from discrimination, harassment, and sexual assault in accordance with 
applicable federal, state, and local laws. Discrimination will not be tolerated and the 
College will consider a violation of this Policy to be a significant act of misconduct that 
may result in disciplinary action. When made aware, the College will take immediate 
action to stop the discrimination, prevent its recurrence, and remedy its effects. 

 
II. Applicability 

 
In accordance with applicable law and the College’s commitment to access, equity, and 
diversity, the College does not discriminate against any student, employee, or applicant 
for employment on the basis of age, color, citizenship status, covered veteran status, 
disability, gender, gender identity and expression, genetic information, national origin, 
marital status, race, religion, sexual orientation, or for any other reason to the extent 
these attributes are not covered in this Policy and covered by federal, state and county 
laws and regulations. The College also prohibits retaliation against employees and 
students who, in good faith, bring complaints regarding perceived discrimination. 

 
III. Education 
 

Education is a key element of this Policy. The College will provide education and 
information, as appropriate, for students and employees to enhance understanding and 
increase awareness of the College’s Equal Employment Opportunity and Non-
Discrimination Policy. Any mandatory education requirements will be announced and 
posted on the College’s website. The President is authorized to provide institutional 
leadership and guidance for developing education programs to promote awareness about 
non-discrimination. Some goals to be achieved through education are: (a) ensuring that 
all individuals are aware of their rights; (b) notifying individuals of conduct that is 
proscribed; (c) informing employees, contractors, and students about the proper way to 
recognize issues and address complaints involving a violation of this Policy; (d) 
preventing issues that this Policy addresses; and (e) identifying the necessary steps for 
preventing its recurrence and addressing its effects. 

 
IV. The President is authorized and directed to establish procedures and programs to 

implement this Policy. 
 
_____________________________ 
Board Approval:  September 21, 1987; December 18, 1989; April 15, 1991; July 15, 1991; 
September 21, 1999, November 18, 2002, December 13, 2010; February 25, 2013, February 23, 
2015; December 12, 2016. 



PROCEDURE - Montgomery College                                31006CP 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Chapter: Personnel     Modification No.  006 
 
Subject: Equal Employment Opportunity, and Non-Discrimination  
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 1 of 7 
 

I. Introduction 
 

A. Montgomery College is an equal opportunity institution and, in accordance with 
applicable law, the College prohibits discrimination against any student, employee, or 
applicant for employment on the basis of age, color, citizenship status, current or former 
military status, disability, gender, gender identity and expression, genetic information, 
national origin, marital status, race, religion, sex, sexual orientation, and for any other 
reason covered by applicable federal, state and county laws and regulations. The College 
also prohibits retaliation against employees and students who, in good faith, bring 
complaints regarding perceived discrimination. 

B. The College is committed to providing an environment in which all persons are provided 
the opportunity for employment and/or participation in academic programs, and other 
College activities free from any form of harassment as prohibited by federal and state 
laws, including sexual misconduct. Conduct that constitutes discrimination and/or 
harassment violates College Policy and will not be tolerated. Violations of this Policy on 
the part of any College employee, or any student, or any participant in a College program 
or activity may result in appropriate disciplinary action, including discharge or expulsion. 

 
C. The College has taken steps to prevent and promptly correct all forms of discrimination.  

This internal complaint procedure provides a mechanism for aggrieved individuals to 
receive a prompt, thorough, and impartial review of issues believed to be in violation of 
the College's Equal Opportunity and Non-Discrimination Policy and Equal Education 
Opportunity and Non-Discrimination Policy. Conduct pertaining to all forms of sexual 
misconduct; including sexual harassment, sexual assault, intimate partner 
violence/abuse, stalking, sexual exploitation, and sexual intimidation is covered by the 
procedures outlined in Policy 31001-Sexual Misconduct.  

 
D. When appropriate, the College expects students or employees to use internal means to 

resolve complaints related to 31006-Equal Employment Opportunity and Non-
Discrimination and/or 41002-Equal Education Opportunity and Non-Discrimination, and to 
take advantage of any preventive and corrective opportunities. 

 
II. Complaint Procedure - General 
 

A. Intake, Investigation, and Recommendation 
 
1. An employee shall present a complaint under this Procedure within 180 calendar 

days of the date of that incident or the date the employee should reasonably 
have known of the event underlying the complaint. If warranted, the 
employee/labor relations administrator, or designee, may extend this time limit for 
good cause shown by the employee. The complaint shall contain the 
Complainant’s name, address, telephone number, the facts of the alleged 
violation, the date of the alleged violation, the name or names of the 
respondent(s), the requested remedy and any further information the 
Complainant believes relevant to the matter. 

http://cms.montgomerycollege.edu/EDU/Verified_-_Policies_and_Procedures/PDF_Versions/41002_Equal_Education_Opportunity_and_Non-Discrimination/
http://cms.montgomerycollege.edu/EDU/Verified_-_Policies_and_Procedures/PDF_Versions/41002_Equal_Education_Opportunity_and_Non-Discrimination/
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2. The College may establish the mechanism by which a complaint is submitted, 
which may include a form, a toll-free number, an online submission, or some 
combination of these mechanisms. 

 
3. The employee/labor relations administrator, or designee, will determine whether 

the complaint is one that falls under this Procedure. 
 
4. The employee/labor relations administrator, or designee, will determine whether 

the respondent employee(s) should be placed on paid administrative leave 
pending the outcome of the investigation. 

 
5. The employee/labor relations administrator, or designee shall make every effort 

to meet with the complainant within ten (10) working days. If that timeframe is not 
feasible, such meeting will be scheduled as soon thereafter as is practicable.  

 
6. Following review and evaluation of the complaint, the employee/labor relations 

administrator, or designee, shall notify the respondent(s), in writing, of the 
complaint, along with a copy of the appropriate College Policy and Procedure for 
which a violation has been alleged, and notice that College Policy and applicable 
law prohibit retaliation for the filing of a complaint or participation in an 
employment discrimination investigation. To the extent possible, confidentiality 
will be maintained at all times.  The College may, however, inform other College 
employees who the College deems, in its sole discretion, should be made aware 
of the complaint. 

 
7. If an investigation is appropriate, the employee/labor relations administrator or 

designee will make every effort to conduct such investigation within thirty (30) 
working days; however this timeline may be extended at the discretion of the 
investigator. Investigations, shall include:  

 
a. interviewing relevant individuals; 
b. reviewing relevant documentation;  
c. meeting with the respondent(s); and  
d. if necessary, conducting follow-up meeting with involved individuals. 

 
8. The investigator shall make every effort to prepare a report and recommendation 

within thirty (30) working days after the conclusion of the investigation; however, 
this timeline may be extended at the discretion of the investigator. The report 
shall include: 

 
a. the factual findings of the investigation;  
b. a summary of the witnesses interviewed and evidence considered; and  
c. a recommendation for resolution of the complaint.   

 
The report and recommendation shall be submitted to the employee/labor 
relations administrator, or designee, or if the employee/labor relations 
administrator conducted the investigation, the chief human resources officer, or 
designee. 

   
9. Within ten (10) working days after receiving the report and recommendation, the 

employee/labor relations administrator, or designee, or the chief human 
resources officer, of designee, as applicable, shall either approve the report and 
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recommendation, return it to the investigator for additional follow-up, or 
recommend alternate action. The employee/labor relations administrator, or 
designee, may reasonably extend this deadline. 
 

10. The employee/labor relations administrator shall take action consistent with the 
approved report and recommendation or other agreed resolution. 

 
B. Appeals 

 
1. A complainant may appeal the decision reached following the investigation to the 

chief human resources officer, or designee, within ten (10) working days of the 
date the report and recommendation is approved. 
 

2. An appeal may be submitted for only the following reasons: (i) a procedural error 
or omission occurred that significantly affected the outcome of the investigation 
or report and recommendation; and (ii) to consider new evidence, unknown or 
unavailable during the investigation, that could substantially impact the original 
finding (a summary of this new evidence and its potential impact must be 
included in the written appeal). 

 
3. Upon receipt of an appeal, the chief human resources officer, or designee shall 

review the report and recommendation. 
 

4. The chief human resources officer, or designee, shall issue a written decision on 
the appeal within ten (10) working days; however, this timeline may be extended 
at the discretion of the chief human resources officer or designee. 

 
C. If discipline or discharge will result following the complaint/appeal process outlined 

above, the procedures set forth in 34002CP and 34003CP shall apply for purposes of 
implementing that decision. 
 

D. The procedures outlined above notwithstanding, Montgomery College encourages 
individuals to pursue informal resolution of complaints. Employees may consult with 
employee/labor relations staff for assistance with seeking informal resolution of 
complaints.  

 
E. Individuals have the right to file complaints with external enforcement agencies, including: 

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission; US Department of Labor; Office of Civil 
Rights of the Department of Education; the Maryland Commission on Human Relations; 
and the Montgomery County Human Relations Commission. 
 

F. The Office of Employee and Labor Relations serves as the principal liaison with 
applicants for employment and College employees on matters of equal employment 
opportunity and equal education opportunity. Employees are encouraged to take 
advantage of this resource.  

 
G. In cases of alleged sexual misconduct as defined in the Policy 31001-Sexual Misconduct, 

the procedures of that Policy shall be followed.  
 
H. Individuals who are concerned they have witnessed, or have been subjected to prohibited 

discriminatory actions should discuss their concerns with their immediate supervisor, 
appropriate administrator, or the employee/labor relations staff.  The College 



PROCEDURE - Montgomery College                                31006CP 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 4 of 7 
 

recommends that individuals immediately bring their concerns to management’s attention 
in order to facilitate prompt attention and action. An immediate supervisor or appropriate 
administrator, through consultation with human resources staff, will attempt to efficiently 
resolve the matter.   

 
I. Under these procedures, an employee or applicant for employment filing a complaint 

alleging a violation of the Equal Employment Opportunity and Non-Discrimination Policy 
(31006) must report in the complaint all known claims that have occurred prior to the date 
on which the complaint is filed. If, during the investigation, additional potential violations 
of the Equal Employment Opportunity and Non-Discrimination Policy are discovered, the 
College may open a separate investigation on those new allegations. The College may 
reject any claim to the extent it includes allegations that the Complainant(s) knowingly did 
not report in an earlier complaint. However, the College may, in its sole discretion, permit 
consideration of such allegations if it is satisfied (i) that the employee, applicant, or 
student provides an adequate explanation for not reporting the allegations in the prior 
complaint and (ii) that the interests of all parties would best be served by considering the 
new allegation. 

 
J. Complaints of discrimination will be investigated and addressed in a fair and impartial 

manner. All individuals involved in the investigation will be treated with dignity and 
respect. Retaliation against a complainant or individual participating in an investigation 
under this Procedure is prohibited. 

 
K. Access to Information 
 

All members of the College community are expected to cooperate with the investigation 
by providing timely information in the format requested. The investigator shall have 
access to personnel information about employees. The investigator shall also have 
access to the educational records of students, in whole or in part. Personal information 
obtained from educational records of students shall not, however, be disclosed to third 
parties other than the College’s General Counsel, appropriate Senior Vice President, the 
President, and the appropriate administrative official(s) who might require access in order 
to conclude the investigation and implement a corrective action. Employees who fail to 
promptly cooperate with an investigation under this Policy shall be subject to disciplinary 
action. 

 
L. Complaint Withdrawal 

 
Complainant(s) may request the voluntary withdrawal of the complaint. The request shall 
be in writing to the chief human resources officer, or designee. A request to withdraw will 
not stop an investigation if facts determine that the College must take action. 

 
M. Interim Measures 
 

Based on the information gathered during the investigation, the College reserves the right 
to take appropriate interim measures designed to provide relief to the affected person(s), 
reduce the likelihood of recurrence, or address immediate effects of the behavior. 

 
III. Implementation of Corrective Action 
 

A. The appropriate administrators/disciplinary authority shall act to implement corrective 
action as stated in the report and recommendation or as determined by the chief human 
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resources officer, or designee, if there was an appeal, or as soon as practical of the 
report and recommendation, or the appeal, if applicable, is finalized. 
 

B. If there is a final determination that there has been a violation of the College’s Policy with 
respect to a grade awarded to a student, the finding or determination shall be forwarded 
to the Complainant(s), Respondent(s), and the appropriate Dean, who shall select a 
review committee in accordance with the procedures stated in the Academic Regulations 
for the review of allegations of arbitrary and capricious grading. The review committee, 
which is established pursuant to the Academic Regulations to review allegations of 
arbitrary and capricious grading, shall have no authority to reverse the finding or 
determination of the chief human resources officer, or designee, and shall confine its 
consideration to a determination of the appropriate corrective action with respect to the 
grade. The Committee shall forward to the chief human resources officer, or designee, 
Complainant(s), and Respondent(s) a written recommendation as to the appropriate 
corrective action with respect to the grade. Every effort shall be made to submit the 
recommendation within thirty (30) working days; however, the Committee may 
reasonably extend this timeline at its discretion. 
 

C. The Senior Vice President for Academic Affairs shall review the recommendation of the 
committee and, upon completing such review, shall issue a final written determination of 
the corrective action with respect to the grade she or he determines to be appropriate for 
such violation (which she or he shall implement), and a copy of which shall be forwarded 
to the Complainant(s), Respondent(s), and chief human resources officer, or designee,. 
The Senior Vice President shall make every effort to issue the final determination within 
ten (10) working days; however, the Senior Vice President may reasonably extend this 
timeline at their discretion.  
 

D. Once the disciplinary/grievance process, including any available appeal, has concluded, 
whatever decision is made regarding the disciplinary action constitutes the final 
administrative decision of the College in the matter. The chief human resources officer, or 
designee, shall ensure that the Complainant(s) is appropriately advised of the resolution 
of such disciplinary action. 
 

E. No provision of this Policy shall be construed as a limitation on disciplinary action 
available under applicable policies and procedures. If an investigation is conducted under 
this Policy and no Policy violation is found, that fact does not prevent discipline of the 
respondent(s) under other applicable Policies and Procedures. 

 
IV. Alternative Dispute Resolution  
 

Upon mutual agreement of the complainant and the employee/labor relations administrator, or 
designee, a complaint may be referred to mediation.  If the grievant and the College agree to 
mediate a complaint, the employee/labor relations administrator, or designee, shall select an 
appropriately trained individual as a neutral mediator to help the parties resolve a workplace 
dispute. 

 
V. Confidentiality 
 

The College recognizes the importance of confidentiality. To the extent possible, all information 
received in connection with the filing, investigation, and resolution of complaints will be treated as 
confidential. Records will be maintained in a confidential manner to the extent permitted by law 
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and insofar as they do not interfere with the College's legal obligation to investigate and resolve 
issues of discrimination. Thus, confidentiality will be maintained except as disclosure may be 
required to be made: (i) by law; (ii) to individual witnesses with knowledge of facts relating to the 
complaint; (iii) to appropriate human resources department staff; (iv) to union representatives in 
the event the Complainant(s) and Respondent(s) are union members, and/or; (v) on a need to 
know basis to counsel, insurers, auditors, appropriate Board members and executives of the 
College.  

 
VI. Non-Disclosure of Genetic Information 
 

The Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (GINA) prohibits employers and other 
entities covered by GINA from requesting or requiring genetic information of an individual or 
family member of the individual, except as specifically allowed by law.   

 
To comply with this law, employees should not provide any genetic information when responding 
to a request for medical information made in connection with a request for an accommodation, 
including any leave of absence. 

 
“Genetic information,” as defined by GINA, includes an individual’s family medical history, the 
results of an individual’s or family member’s genetic tests, the fact than an individual or an 
individual’s family member sought or received genetic services, and genetic information of a fetus 
carried by an individual or an individual’s family member or an embryo lawfully held by an 
individual or family member receiving assistive reproductive services. 
 

VII. Maintenance of Documentation 
 

Documentation resulting from the investigation at each level in the complaint procedure will be 
maintained by human resources, and is not considered part of an employee's personnel file, 
except to the extent that personnel action(s) result from the investigation.  

 
VIII. Retaliation Prohibited 
 

Retaliation against a person who has filed a complaint or against any individual who participated 
in an investigation is strictly prohibited. Any retaliatory action by any College employee or student 
against a Complainant or witness is prohibited and may be grounds for disciplinary action or 
dismissal from the College. 

 
IX. Good Faith Reporting 
  

Any individual found to have knowingly and intentionally filed a false allegation or provided false 
information may be subject to appropriate disciplinary action. A complaint made in good faith is 
not considered false merely because the evidence does not ultimately support the allegation of 
discrimination. 
 

X. Time Limits 
 

Working days are defined as all days during the calendar year other than Saturdays, Sundays, 
and days the College is closed. 

 
The employee/labor relations administrator, or designee, may exercise reasonable discretion to 
adjust the time limits set forth in this procedure. 
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XI. Receipt of Notification 
 

Whenever, under these procedures, individuals must be notified in writing, a copy shall be served 
in person, by certified, return receipt requested mail to the address that is kept on file at the 
College, or via email. For purposes of computing any time frames under these procedures, where 
service is by US mail, the date of service shall be considered to be the third day after the 
postmarked date of the letter. It is the responsibility of the individual to ensure that the College 
has their current address on file. 

 
___________________ 
Administrative Approval:  July 16, 1999; March 10, 2003; December 13, 2010; February 24, 2015; 
December 13, 2016; March 27, 2018. 


